# Chemistry and Heterocyclization of Carbohydrazides

Alaa A. Hassan\* and Ahmed M. Shawky

Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Minia University, El-Minia, A. R. Egypt \*E-mail: alaahassan2001@yahoo.com Received October 5, 2009 DOI 10.1002/jhet.405 Published online 9 June 2010 in Wiley InterScience (www.interscience.wiley.com).



The review summarizes recent literatures dealing with the synthesis of carbohydrazide derivatives, chemical reactions and their applications in the synthesis of important heterocyclic as well as fused heterocyclic compounds.

J. Heterocyclic Chem., 47, 745 (2010).

			Contents	Page
1.			Introduction	745
2.			Methods of preparation	746
3.			Reactions of substituted carbohydrazides	746
	3.1		Synthesis of linear compounds	746
	3.2		Synthesis of pyrrole derivatives	749
	3.3		Synthesis of pyrazole derivatives	749
	3.4		Synthesis of fused pyrazole derivatives	751
	3.5		Synthesis of indazole derivatives	751
	3.6		Synthesis of thiazolidine derivatives	751
	3.7		Synthesis of 1,2,4-triazole derivatives	751
	3.8		Synthesis of fused triazole compounds	753
	3.9		Synthesis of oxadiazole derivatives	755
	3.10		Synthesis of thiadiazole derivatives	757
	3.11		Synthesis of tetrazole derivatives	757
	3.12		Synthesis of diazine derivatives	757
		3.12.1	Synthesis of phthalazine derivatives	757
		3.12.2	Synthesis of pyridazine derivatives	758
		3.12.3	Synthesis of pyrimidine derivatives	758
		3.12.4	Synthesis of quinazoline derivatives	758
	3.13		Synthesis of 1,2,4-triazine derivatives	758
	3.14		Synthesis of 1,3,4-oxadiazine derivatives	759
	3.15		Synthesis of oxadiazepine derivatives	761
			References and notes	762

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Hydrazide compounds, such as indole-2-carbohydrazide derivatives have been shown to inhibit monoamine oxidase A activity [1]. Furan carbohydrazide, thiophene carbohydrazide, and isonicotinic acid hydrazide react with a series of 4-alkoxy-4-alkyl(aryl)-1,1,1-trifluoro-3-alken-2-ones to give 3-alkyl(aryl)-5-trifluoro-methyl substituted pyrazoles [1]. One-pot reactions between carboxylic hydrazides and 2-isothiocyanato-benzonitrile afforded pharmacologically relevant 1,2,4-triazolo[1,5-c]quinazoline-5-thiones [2]. Hydrazide compounds were also converted to triazole-3-thiols [3], imidazopyrazolopyrimidine [3], 1,3,4-oxadiazole [4], 1,3,4-oxadiazine [4], pyrazolotriazolopyrimidine [5,6], and pyrazolotriazoloquinoline derivatives [7]. Bis

(pyridinyl-2,3-dihydrooxadiazolyl)benzenes were obtained by heating the corresponding bis(hydrazides) with benzaldehyde [7]. Such compounds have attracted attention not only as model compounds for polymers but also because many biologically active natural and synthetic products have molecular symmetry [7].

The condensation of an acyl hydrazide and an amidine to afford acylamidrazone, followed by thermal cyclization, provides a convenient method for preparing 3,5-disubstituted-1,2,4-triazoles [8].

1,2,4-Triazines were formed *via* the condensation of 1,2-diketones with acylhydrazides in the presence of ammonium acetate under both traditional heating and dry media microwave assisted reaction conditions [9].

Carbohydrazides and their derivatives occupy a specific place among the other N,O-containing compounds used in the synthesis of heterocyclic systems because of their accessibility and ability to act as nucleophiles.

Accordingly, it is important to shed more light on the recent literatures dealing with that chemistry, especially in the field of heterocycles. Therefore, the present review was aimed at summarizing and systematizing available published data on the reactions of carbohydrazides with activated ethylenes, ethynes, benzo- and naphthoquinones, compounds containing C=N and C=N moiety. Several types of reactions involving nucleophilic addition, condensation followed by heterocyclization were observed. Various heterocyclic and fused heterocyclic as well as spiro-heterocyclic compounds have been synthesized from carbohydrazides.

#### 2. METHODS OF PREPARATION

Carbohydrazides 1 can be prepared by refluxing aromatic carboxylic acid methyl or ethyl ester 2 with hydrazine hydrate in neat or in methanol. After cooling to room temperature, the resulting colorless solids were collected by filtration and dried *in vacuo* [10,11].



2-Thiophenecarbohydrazide 1 refluxed for 5 h [12], 2pyridincarbohydrazide 1 refluxed for 4 h [13,14], 2indolecarbohydrazide 1 refluxed for 15 h [4,15–18], and 2-furancarbohydrazide 1 refluxed for 2 h [19]. Some derivatives of carbohydrazide can be prepared like picolinic-*N*-oxidehydrazide [20] and 2-pyrrolecarbo-hydrazide [21]. Carbohydrazides have been prepared by hydrazinolysis of diethyl carbonate [22] and diphenyl carbonate [23] in satisfactory yields. The interaction of phosgene and hydrazine hydrate in refluxing benzene afforded carbohydrazides as dihydrochloride [24]. Also, hydrazinolysis of carbazic acid [25] and cyanuric acid [26] gave carbohydrazides.

## **3 REACTIONS OF CARBOHYDRAZIDES**

**3.1.** Synthesis of linear compounds. *N*-(2,4-Dinitrophenyl)pyridinium chloride **3** reacted with carbohydrazides **1** in methanol containing triethylamine at room temperature for 12 h to furnish 2,4-dinitroanilino derivatives **4**. Hydrolysis of **4** with water/*p*-1,4-dioxane mixture, at reflux temperature for 2 h, produced substituted carbonyliminopyridinium compounds **5**. Reduction of **5** with sodium borohydride in ethanol at 0°C for 4 h afforded alkyl substituted carbonylamino-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridines **6** [27–29].



R = Ph, 2-pyridyl, methyl, 3-pyridyl, 4-pyridyl

A solution of chloroacetyl chloride was added dropwise to a solution of 2-indole carbohydrazide 1 in dry dioxane. After stirring at room temperature for 6 h,  $N^2$ -(2-chloroacetyl)indole-2-carbohydrazide 7 was formed [4].



Substituted carbohydrazides **1** reacted with cyclohexane-1,1-dicarbonylchloride **8** in chloroform/triethylamine to yield cyclohexane-1,1-dicarboxylic acid-N,N'-di(2octyloxybenzoyl)hydrazide **9** [30].



Condensation of carbohydrazides 1 with 2-acetyl-imidazo[4,5-*b*]pyridine 10 in absolute ethanol containing a catalytic amount of piperidine afforded the corresponding hydrazones **11** [31].



Benzenesulfonyl chloride **12** reacted with 2-pyridinecarbohydrazide **1** to give 1-isonicotinyl-2-benzene-sulfonyl hydrazine **13** [32].



Allylic substitution of carbohydrazide was prepared by reaction of sodium derivative **14** with 1,3-diphenyl-prop-2-enylacetate **15** to give N'-1,3-diphenylallylbenzo-hydrazide **16** [33].



Hydrazone **17** was formed when 2-indole carbohydrazide **1** was dissolved in ethanol for 3 h at room temperature. On other hand, compound **17** was also obtained by condensing **1** with the aldehyde **18** [34].



Refluxing equimolar amounts of di-2-pyridyl ketone **20** and carbohydrazid **1** in ethanol for 3 h afforded di-2-pyridyl ketone 2-furoylhydrazone **21** [35].



Refluxing an ethanolic solution of salicylaldehyde **22** and 2-furancarbohydrazide **1** for 30 min gave salicylaldehyde-2-furoic acid hydrazone **23** [36].

$$\sqrt[]{0} = (1 + 1) + (1 +$$

Condensation of 2-pyridine carbohydrazide 1 with some aldehydes or ketones 24 in ethanol gave the corresponding hydrazones 25 [37].



To a stirred solution of ethenetetracarbonitrile (TCNE) (26) in dimethylformamide (DMF), carbohydrazides 1 was added to give diaroylhydrazines 30 and 1,1,2,2-tetracyanoethane (TCNE-H<sub>2</sub>) 28 [38]. Formation of these products may be rationalized *via* the following steps [38].



N,N'-Diaroylhydrazines **30** were formed by using pentafluorophenyl ester to activate arylcarboxylate **31** with carbohydrazides **1**, mild conditions which avoid intermediate were subjected; both symmetrical and unsymmetrical diaroylhydrazines **30** were formed in a high yields [39].



Journal of Heterocyclic Chemistry

DOI 10.1002/jhet

Carbohydrazides 1 reacted rapidly with dinitrogen tetraoxide (N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>) [40] in acetonitrile at low temperature (-20 to  $-40^{\circ}$ C) to give the corresponding azides 32 in mostly quantitative yields [41].



Mixtures of carbohydrazides **1** with 3-(4-acetylphenyl)-sydnone **33** were heated under reflux to produce hydrazone derivatives **34** [42].



Reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with *DL*-alanine **35** under papain catalysis gave **36**; this represented an example of the power of papain to exert stereochemical preference during catalyzed reaction [43,44].

$$H_{2}N - C - C - OH + R - C - N - NH_{2} \xrightarrow{\text{papain}} H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - C - N - N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

$$H_{2}N - C - R + H_{2}O$$

[(4-L)-2,2-Bis(trifluoromethyl)-5-oxo-1,3-oxazolidin-4-yl] acetic acid 37 reacted with carbohydrazides 1 in ethyl acetate at room temperature to give 38 [45].



Reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with 4-chloro-2-phenyl-2*H*-pyrazolo[4,3-*c*]quinoline **40** in ethanol and in the presence of triethylamine afforded 4-chloro-N'-(2-phenyl-2*H*-pyrazolo[4,3-*c*]quinolin-4-yl)benzohydrazide **41** [46].



Reaction of phthalaldehyde **42** with carbohydrazides **1** in refluxing ethanol for 2–3 h afforded the corresponding bis(hydrazones) **43** [7].



Reaction between an isothiocyanates **44** and carbohydrazides **1** in benzene gave acylthiosemicarbazides **45** in yields ranging from 88 to 95% [47–52].



Substituted benzaldehyde **46** reacted with phenyl carbohydrazide **1** in ball-milled for 1 h to give *N*-substituted benzoylhydrazones **47** in spectroscopically pure form [53].



Condensation of isatin **48** with phenyl carbohydrazide **1** required 3 h ball-milling for complete reaction to give isatin-3-benzoylhydrazone **49** [53].



Heating methyl-2-chloroisonicotinate **50** with  $N_2H_4.H_2O$  at 150°C in sealed tube gave the substituted carbohydrazide **51** [49]. Treatment of **51** with sodium nitrite in the presence of hydrochloric acid yielded carbonyl azide **52**, which was heated in toluene at 90–100°C for 1 h, sole product to form isocyanate **53** (*Curtius* rearrangement). The later was further reacted *in situ* with aniline at room temperature to give the expected urea derivative **54** [54].



**3.2.** Synthesis of pyrrole derivatives. Reaction of carbohydrazide 1 with acid anhydride 55 to produce pyrrole derivative 57 was carried out *via* thermal cyclodehydration of the dicarboxylic acid 56 at 150°C or during heating with thionyl chloride [55].



**3.3. Synthesis of pyrazole derivatives.** A mixture of substituted 2-phenylazo-1,3-diphenyl-propane-1,3-dione (**58**) and carbohydrazide **1** in glacial acetic acid was heated under reflux to form N'-picolinyl-3-phenyl-5-aryl-4-(substituted phenylazo)pyrazoles **59** [56].



2-Pyridine carbohydrazides **1** reacted with sulpha-substituted phenylhydrazomethyl-2,3-dioxobutyrate in glacial acetic acid to form N'-(2-pyridinecarbonyl)-3-methyl-4-(substituted)hydrazono-2-pyrazoline-5-one **60** [57].



X = 3-Cl , 4-Cl , 2-OCH<sub>3</sub> , 3-OCH<sub>3</sub> , 4-OCH<sub>3</sub> , 2-CH<sub>3</sub> , 4-CH<sub>3</sub> , 3-NO<sub>2</sub> , 4-NH<sub>2</sub>

When aroylphenylacetylenes **61** was refluxed with carbohydrazides **1** in ethanol for 5 h, the reaction mixture afforded 5-aryl-4,5-dihydro-5-hydroxy-3-phenyl-1*H*-pyrazole derivatives **64** [58] rather than open chain compounds **63** [59–61].



Cyclocondensation reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with a series of 4-methoxy-4-alkyl(aryl)-1,1,1-trifluoro-3alken-2-one derivatives **65** in refluxing methanol afforded 3-alkyl(aryl)-5-hydroxy-5-trifluoromethyl-4,5dihydro-1*H*-1(2-aryl) pyrazoles **66** [62].



Condensation of 2-indole carbohydrazide 1 with acetyl acetone 67 in ethanol containing a catalytic amount of acetic acid resulted in the formation of the corresponding pyrazole derivative 68 [1]. Carbohydrazides 1 reacted with ethylacetoacetate 69 in the absence of solvent to give the ester derivative 70, which could be cyclized to pyrazolone derivative 71 by heating above its melting point for 10 min followed by refluxing in methanol for further 2 h. Compound 71 was also obtained independently *via* direct refluxing of 1 with ethylacetoacetate 69 in ethanol/acetic acid mixture for 5 h [1].



Addition of substituted carbohydrazides 1 to 1,4dibenzoylacetylene 72 afforded the 4,5-dibenzoyl-3substituted-1*H*-pyrazole 74 via the intermediate 73[63].



On the other hand, the reaction of substituted carbohydrazides 1 with 1,4-diphenylbut-2-ene-1,4-dione 75 in refluxing acetic acid gave 4-benzoyl-3-substituted pyrazoles 78 [63].



Reaction of substituted carbohydrazides 1 with 26 in DMF afforded 5-amino-1(substituted)-1*H*-pyrazole-3,3,4(2*H*)-tricarbonitriles **79** [38].



Mixing equimolar amount of carbohydrazides 1 with diethyl(E) 2,3-dicyanobutenedioate 80 in ethyl acetate under reflux led to the formation of pyrazole derivatives 83 [38].



**3.4.** Synthesis of fused pyrazole derivatives. When phenyl carbohydrazide 1 in tetrahydrofuran (THF) was treated with n-butyl-lithium **84** in hexane under nitrogen atmosphere at  $-78^{\circ}$ C for 1.5 h and allowed to reach the room temperature overnight, indazol-3(2*H*)-one **88** was isolated [64].



The reaction of (1,3-dioxo-2,3-dihydro-1*H*-inden-2-ylidene)propanedinitrile **89** and **1** in DMF with admission of air afforded 4-oxo-1-substituted-1,4-dihydro-indeno[1,2-*c*]pyrazole-3-carbonitrile **91** [65].



**3.5. Synthesis of indazole derivatives.** In a different manner, 1,4-naphthoquinone-2,3-dicarbonitrile **92** reacted with **1** to give substituted benzo[*f*]indazoledione **96** [66].



Carbohydrazides **1** reacted with 3-(dicyanomethylene)-2indolone **97** in the presence of pipridine to give substituted carbonylpyrazolo[3,4-*b*]-indole-3-carbonitrile **98** [65].



**3.6.** Synthesis of thiazolidine derivatives. Refluxing carbohydrazides 1 with 48 in methanol afforded isatin- $\beta$ -arylhydrazones 99, which reacted with 2-mercapto acetic acid in dioxane to furnish the interesting spiro[3*H*-indole-3,2\-thiazolidine] derivatives 100 [67].



**3.7. Synthesis of 1,2,4-triazole derivatives.** Reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with carbon disulfide in ethanolic

potassium hydroxide gave dithiocarbazate **101**, which reacted with hydrazine hydrate to form 4-amino-5-aryl-4*H*-1,2,4-triazole-3-thiol **102** [51].



Ring closer acylthiosemicarbazides **45**, prepared by reacting **1** with **44**, in an alkaline medium, led to the formation of 1,2,4-triazole-3-thione derivatives **103** [51] and 1,2,4-triazolethiol derivatives **104** [47,48,68–70].



1,2,4-Triazole derivatives **106** were also obtained *via* the reaction of thiocarbamides **105** with carbohydrazides **1** [71].



The reaction of carbohydrazide **1** with imidate hydrochloride **107** gave compound **108**, which was converted into 1,2,4-triazole derivative **109** upon heating with 4nitrobenzylamine [72].



2-Furan carbohydrazide **1** reacted with *S*-methyl-isothiourea **110** to give the corresponding guanidine **111**. Upon heating **111**, 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole derivative **112** was formed [73,74].



Most of 3,5-disubstituted-1,2,4-triazoles **106** were readily synthesized from imidates **113** and carbohydrazides **1**. For example, condensation of imidates **113** with carbohydrazides **1** gave acylamidrazones **114**, which underwent thermal cyclization to give 3,5-disubstituted-1,2,4-triazoles **106** [75–79].





Journal of Heterocyclic Chemistry

DOI 10.1002/jhet

Also, reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with acetamidine or benzamidine **115** afforded 1,2,4-triazole derivatives **106** [80–82].



Substituted 1,2,4-triazoles **118** were synthesized by thermal cyclization of  $N^3$ -substituted- $N^1$ -acylamidrazone derivatives **117**, prepared by the reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with thioamides **116** in ethanol at room temperature [83–85].



1,2,4-Triazole derivatives **106** were prepared *via* the reaction of 2-pyridine carbohydrazide benzenesulphonate **119** with substituted nitriles **120** [86] according to Pott's method [87–90].



Reaction of pyrazole derivatives **121** with carbohydrazide **1** afforded 1,2,4-triazole derivatives **122** [91]. Also, the reaction of **121** with carbohydrazides **1** in refluxing diphenyl ether gave the 1,2,4-triazole derivatives **122** [3].



 $R^{*} = CH_{3}$ ,  $(CH_{3})_{2}CHCH_{2}CH_{2}$ ,  $CH_{3}(CH_{2})_{6}CH_{2}$ -

**3.8.** Synthesis of fused triazole compounds. 4-Chloro-2-phenyl-2H-pyrazolo[4,3-c]quinoline **40** reacted with carbohydrazides **1** in ethanol to form 2-phenyl-6-(furan-2-yl or 4-chlorophenyl)-2H-pyrazolo[4,3-c]-1,2,4-triazolo[4,3-a]quinolines **123** [46].



The reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with 2-chloro-3-[5-(acetoxymethyl)-1-phenylpyrazol-3-yl]quinoxaline **124** in boiling n-butanol resulted in the formation of the corresponding 1-aryl-4-[5-(hydroxymethyl-1-phenyl-pyrazol-3-yl]-1,2,4-triazolo[4,3-*a*]quinoxalines **125** [92].



3-(2-Chlorobenzyl)-7-chloro-1,2,3-triazolo[4,5-*d*]-pyrimidine **126** reacted with carbohydrazides **1** in boiling ethanol to give hydrazo derivatives **127**, which underwent intramolecular thermal cyclization to form 3-(2-chlorobenzyl)-7-substituted-1,2,3-triazolo [4,5-*e*]-1,2,4-triazolo[4,3-*c*]-pyrimidine derivatives **128** [93].



The reaction of carbohydrazide **1** with 5-chloro-2-isocyanatobenzonitrile **129** in presence of tripropylamine and 2-methoxyethanol afforded 9-chloro-2-(2-furyl)-1,2,4-triazolo[1,5-*c*]quinazolin-5-(6*H*)-one **130** [94,2].



Also, the reaction of N,N-dimethyl-N-(4-chloro-2cyanophenyl)urea **131** with 2-furan carbohydrazide **1** in 2-methoxyethanol gave triazoloquinazolinone derivatives **130** [94].



On the other hand, compound **130** was synthesized by the reaction of 5-chloro-2-[(methoxycarbonyl)-amino]-benzonitrile **132** with 2-furan carbohydrazide **1** in tripro-pylamine and 2-methoxyethanol [94].



One-pot reaction between carbohydrazides 1 and 5chloro-2-isothiocyanatobenzonitrile 133 afforded 1,2,4triazolo[1,5-c]quinazoline-5(6*H*)-thiones 136, in good yields [95].



 $\begin{array}{l} {\sf R} = {\sf H} \; , \; {\sf CH}_3({\sf CH}_2)_{14} \; , \; ({\sf CN}){\sf CH}_2 \; , \; ({\sf C}_6{\sf H}_5){\sf CH}_2 \; , \; ({\sf C}_6{\sf H}_5){\sf OCH}_2 \; , \; {\sf C}_6{\sf H}_5 \; , \\ {\sf 4-{\rm CH}}_3({\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4) \; , \; {\sf 4-{\rm Br}}({\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4) \; , \; {\sf 4-{\rm Cl}}_2({\sf C}_6{\sf H}_3) \; , \; {\sf 3.5-{\rm Cl}}_2({\sf C}_6{\sf H}_3) \; , \\ {\sf 4-{\rm NO}}_2({\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4) \; , \; {\sf 2-{\rm furyl}} \; , \; {\sf 2-{\rm pyridyl}} \; , \; {\sf 3-{\rm pyridyl}} \; , \; {\sf 4-{\rm pyridyl}} \; \end{array}$ 

Refluxing alkyl-*N*-[4-cyano-1*H*-imidazol-5-yl]alkylimidate **137** with carbohydrazides **1** in DMF gave substituted 3*H*-1,2,4-triazolo[5,1-*i*]purines **138** [96].



 $\begin{array}{l} {\sf R}=3-{\sf Pyridyl},\,2-{\sf furyl},\,2-{\sf Cl-C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,3-{\sf Cl-C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,4-{\sf Cl-C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,4-{\sf Fr-C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,4-{\sf Br-C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,\\ {\sf 3}-{\sf CH}_3-{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,4-{\sf f-C}_4{\sf H}_9-{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,4-{\sf CF}_3-{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,4-{\sf biphenyl},\,4-{\sf HO-C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_5,\,\\ {\sf 4}-{\sf CH}_3{\sf O-C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,4-{\sf C}_2{\sf H}_5{\sf O-C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,4-{\sf CI}_3{\sf S}-{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,4-{\sf CH}_3{\sf S}-{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_5,\,\\ {\sf 4}-{\sf (CH}_3)_2{\sf NC}_6{\sf H}_4,\,3-{\sf CH}_3{\sf O-C}_6{\sf H}_4,\,3,4,5-{\sf (CH}_3{\sf O})_3-{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_2,\,{\sf CH}_3,\,3-{\sf furyl} \end{array} \right.$ 

Reaction of 2-furan carbohydrazide **1** with imidate **139** in refluxing 2-methoxyethanol gave pyrazolo[4,3-*e*]-pyrimidine derivatives **140**, the non-isolable which converted *via* a thermally induced cyclization in diphenyl ether into pyrazolo[4,3-*e*]-1,2,4-triazolo[1,5-*c*]pyrimidine derivatives **141** [5, 6, 97–99].



Fusion of *E*-dimethylaminoethylene derivatives **142** with carbohydrazide **1** afforded the corresponding 1,2,4- triazolo[1,5-a]pyrido $[3\lor,4\lor-c]$ coumarin derivative **145** [100].



**3.9. Synthesis of oxadiazole derivatives.** Oxadiazole derivative **146** was obtained from the reaction of carbohydrazide **1** with cyanogen bromide [101]. Also, compound **1** reacted with triethoxymethane or potassium *o*-ethylxanthate to give, 1,3,4-oxadiazole and 1,3,4-oxadiazolethione **147** and **148** respectively [47].



Reaction of terephthalaldehyde **149** with carbohydrazides **1** in refluxing ethanol afforded the corresponding bis(carbohydrazone) **150**. Heating **150** in acetic acid/ ethanol mixture at reflux temperature afforded bis(dihydroxadiazolyl)benzene derivatives **151** [102].



2-(2,3-Dihydro-2-oxo-1,3,4-oxadiazol-5-yl)benzo-heterocycles **152** were prepared by treatment of carbohydrazides **1** with excess of phosgene in methylene chloride at room temperature [103].



Carbohydrazides **1** reacted with **153** in refluxing ethanol to give 2-cyanomethyl-5-substituted-1,3,4-oxadiazole **154** [103].



Carbohydrazides 1 underwent condensation with ethyl chloroformate to give *N*-carbethoxy-5-substituted indole-2-carbohydrazides **155**, which were refluxed in diethyl ether to give  $2-(5'-\infty o-1',3',4'-\infty adiazol-2'-yl)$ indole derivatives **156** [104].



Treatment of carbohydrazides **1** with triphosgene afforded oxadiazolone derivatives **158** in one step [16].



Also, 1 was refluxed with appropriate quantities of KOH and  $CS_2$  in ethanol to give oxadiazolethione derivatives 157 [104].

1,3,4-Oxadiazolethiones **159** were generated directly by treatment of the corresponding carbohydrazides **1** with thiophosgene [4].



Monosubstituted indole-2-cyanoethylhydrazides **160**, prepared by Michael addition of acrylonitrile on the corresponding carbohydrazides **1**, were used as good precursors for the synthesis of indolyl-1,3,4-oxadiazole-3-(2-cyanoethyl)-2-one derivatives **161** and **162**, during the reaction with thiophosgene and triphosgene, respectively [4].



Refluxing carbohydrazides **1** with triethylorthoformate (TEO) **163** afforded 1,3,4-oxadiazole derivatives **164** [105].



Isothiocyanates **44** reacted with carbohydrazides **1** to form acylthiosemicarbazides **45**. Ring closure of **45** in

acidic medium gave 1,3,4-oxadiazole **165** derivatives [47,106].



Reaction of 1 with 72 in acetic acid gave the intermediate 73 which loss a molecule of PhCHO to form 1phenyl-2-(5-substituted-1,3,4-oxadiazol-2-(3H)-ylidene) ethanone 166 [63].



Carbohydrazides 1 reacted with 3-(dicyanomethylene)-2-indolone 97 in the presence of pipridine to give substituted spiro(indoline-3,21-1,3,4-oxadiazol)-2-one 167. Nucleophilic attack of 1 on C=C of 97 followed by loss of one molecule of malononitrile afforded 167 [65].



Carbohydrazides **1** reacted with (1,3-dioxo-2,3-dihydro-1*H*-inden-2-ylidene)propanedinitrile **89** in DMF with admission of air, to afford 5'-substituted-3'*H*-spiro(indene-2,2'-1,3,4-oxadiazole)-1,3-dione **169** [65].



On the other hand, reaction of carbohydrazides 1 with **89** gave 2-(5-substituted-1,3,4-oxadiazol-2-(3H)-ylidene)-1*H*-indene-1,3-(2*H*)-diones **170** via the formation of the intermediate **90** and elimination of two molecules of HCN [65].



3.10. Synthesis of thiadiazole derivatives 171 were obtained from the reaction of carbohydrazides 1 and thiocarboxamides 105 [71].



**3.11. Synthesis of tetrazole derivatives.** A mixture of **1** and diethyl diazene-1,2-dicarboxylate **172** in glacial acetic acid was heated at reflux temperature for 6-8 h, during which time tetrazole derivatives **175** were formed [63].



Nucleophilic attack of 1 to 172 with loss one molecule of H<sub>2</sub>O followed by elimination of another molecule of ethyl formate afforded tetrazole derivatives 175rather than the alternative structure 177 [63].

## 3.12. Synthesis of diazine derivatives.

3.12.1. Synthesis of phthalazine derivatives. Reaction of *o*-phthalaldehyde 42 with 4-pyridine carbohydrazide 1 in refluxing ethanol gave a pure sample of hydrazone 43, which underwent intramolecular cyclization afford the phthalazine derivatives 178 [102].



**3.12.2.** Synthesis of pyridazine derivatives. Condensation of indole carbohydrazide **1** with aromatic aldehydes gave the corresponding hydrazone derivatives **179** were obtained in varying yields, which heated to reflux in acetyl chloride to give the interesting tricyclic indolo[2,3-d]pyridazine derivatives **180** rather than indenotriazines **181** [64].





Acetylation of **1** by refluxing in acetic acid afforded 2-acetyl-hydrazinocarbonylindole **182**, in high yield. Compound **182** was cyclized directly by refluxing in dioxane containing POCl<sub>3</sub> to the indolo[3,2-*b*]pyradizines **183** [64]. On the other hand, refluxing **1** in formic acid for 5 h afforded the *N*-formyl derivative **184**, which was heated for 10 min in ethanol to afford 2,3-dihydro-indolo[3,2-*b*]pyridazin-1-one **185** [64].



*3.12.3. Synthesis of pyrimidine derivatives.* Carbohydrazides **1** reacted with 4-cyano-5-[(ethoxymethylene)amino]pyrazoles **137** to give 5-acyl-amino-4-imino-4,5-dihydropyrazolo[3,4-*d*]pyrimidines **286** [91].



*3.12.4. Synthesis of quinazoline derivatives.* Refluxing of carbohydrazides 1 with *N*-ethoxy-methylene-2-amino-benzonitrile **187** in ethanol gave 3-acylamino-4-imino-3,4-dihydroquinazolines **188** [107].



**3.13.** Synthesis of 1,2,4-triazine derivatives. Benzil 189 reacted with carbohydrazides 1 in the presence ammonium acetate under microwave irradiation to give 1,2,4-triazine derivatives 190 [9,108–110].



1,2,4-Triazine derivatives **190** were obtained by the reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with halomethyl ketone **191** [111,112].



Boiling of 2-indole carbohydrazide **1** with triethylorthoformate in DMF, or thermal cyclodehydration of **184** gave 1,2-dihydro-1-oxo-1,2,4-triazino[4,5-*a*]indole **195** [113].



Carbohydrazides **1** reacted with 4-chloro-3-nitropyridine **196** in ethanol to form the acyl derivatives of 4-hydrazino-3-nitropyridine hydrochloride **197**. The nitro group in **197** was rapidly reduced over palladium catalyst to give **198**, ring closure of the latter compound under acidic conditions gave pyrido[3,4-e]-1,2,4-triazine derivatives **199**, which was oxidized by MnO<sub>2</sub> in presence of alkaline solution to form 3-substitued pyrido[3,4-c]-1,2,4-triazine derivatives **200** [114,115].







R = H,  $CH_3$ ,  $C_3H_7$ ,  $(CH_2)_{16}CH_3$ ,  $C(CH_3)_3$ ,  $CF_3$ ,



Similarly, carbohydrazides **1** reacted with 4-chloro-2methyl-3-nitropyridine **201** to give 3,5-disubstituted pyrido[3,4-*c*]-1,2,4-triazine derivatives **202** [114,115].



The reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with 5-substituted-4-chloro-2,6-dimethyl-3-nitropyridine **203** afforded pyridotriazine derivatives **204** [114,115].



 $\begin{array}{l} {\sf R}^{`} \;, \; {\sf R} = ({\sf H}\;,\; {\sf H})\;, ({\sf H}\;,\; {\sf CH}_3)\;, ({\sf H}\;,\; \rho\text{-}{\sf F}\text{-}{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4)\;, ({\sf H}\;,\; 4\text{-}pyridyl), \\ ({\sf NH}_2\;,\; {\sf CH}_3)\;, ({\sf NH}_2\;,\; \rho\text{-}{\sf F}\text{-}{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4)\;, \; ({\sf NH}_2\;,\; 4\text{-}pyridyl) \end{array}$ 

Reaction of 4-chloro-3-nitroquinoline **205** with carbohydrazides **1** gave 1,2,4-triazino[5,6-*c*]quinolines **206** [114,115].



Reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with triethylorthoformate **163** in DMF gave 10-benzyl-1,2-dihydro-1-oxo-1,2,4-triazino[4,5-*a*]indole derivatives **207** [105].



**3.14.** Synthesis of 1,3,4-oxadiazine derivatives. 2-Indolyl-4*H*-1,3,4-oxadiazine-5(6*H*)-one derivatives **209** have been synthesized by reaction of Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> with  $N^2$ -(2-bromoacetyl)indole-2-carbohydrazides **208**, prepared by reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with  $\alpha$ -bromoacylbromide [4].



Reaction of carbohydrazides **1** with 2-bromopropanoylbromide gave  $N^2$ -(2-bromopropanoyl)-indole-2-carbohydrazide **210**, which cyclized to produce 2-indolyl-4*H*-1,3,4-oxadiazine-6-methyl-5-one derivatives **211** [4].



Isatin **48** was refluxed with carbohydrazides **1** in methanol to furnish isatin- $\beta$ -aroylhydrazones **99**, which heated to reflux in aq. KOH to afford 2-aryl-1,3,4- oxadiazino[5,6-*b*]indole derivatives **212** [67].



 $\mathsf{R}=\mathsf{H}$  , 2-Cl , 4-OCH\_3 , 4-NO\_2 , 4-Cl , 2-OH , 2,4-Cl\_2

A mixture of 2,3,5,6-tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone **213** and **1** in DMF with admission of air afforded substituted benzo[1,3,4]oxadiazinecarboxamide **218** [66].



A mixture of dimethyl but-2-ynedicarboxylate **219** and substituted carbohydrazides **1** was refluxed in methanol to afford 1,3,4-oxadiazine derivatives **221** [63].



Solutions of diethyl (*E*) 2,3-dicyanobutenedioate **80** and **1** were refluxed for 4–18 h in ethyl acetate to give 1,3,4-oxadiazinone **223**, *via* elimination of one molecule of ethanol follwed by HCN [38].



**3.15.** Synthesis of oxadiazepine derivatives. A mixture of dimethyl but-2-ynedicarboxylate **219** and substituted carbohydrazides **1** was heated to reflux in methanol to afford 1,3,4-oxadiazepine derivatives **224**. Nucleophilic attack of the  $NH_2$  group of **1** to the triple bond of **219** afforded the adduct **220**, followed by elimination of one molecule of methanol and intramolecular cyclization to give **224** [63].









The reaction of 2,3,5,6-tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone **213** and **1** in DMF, with admission of air, afforded substituted benzo[1,3,4]oxadiazepine **227** [66].

Journal of Heterocyclic Chemistry DOI 10.1002/jhet

#### **REFERENCES AND NOTES**

[1] Sarhan, A. A. O. Monatsh Chem 2001, 132, 753.

[2] Francis, J. E.; Cash, W. D.; Psychoyos, S.; Ghai, G.; Wenk, P.; Friedmann, R. C.; Atkins, C.; Warren, V.; Furness, P.; Hyun, J. L.;

Stone, G. A.; Desai, M.; Williams, M. J Med Chem 1988, 31, 1014.

- [3] Gatta, F.; Dell Giudice, M. R.; Borioni, A.; Borea, P. A.; Dionisotti, S.; Ongini, E. Eur J Med Chem 1993, 28, 569.
- [4] (a) Struve, G. J Prakt Chem 1894, 50, 295; (b) Struve, G. J Prakt Chem 1895, 52, 170.
- [5] Baraldi, P. G.; Cacciari, B.; Spalluto, G.; Villatoro, M. J. P.; de las, I.; Zocchi, C.; Dionisotti, S.; Ongini, E. J Med Chem 1996,
- 39, 1164.
  - [6] Al-Afaleq, E. I.; Abubshait, S. A. Molecules 2001, 6, 621.
- [7] Glwahy, A. H. M.; Ahmed, M. M.; El-Sadek, M. J Chem Res (S), 2001, 175.
- [8] Francis, J. E.; Gorczyca, L. A.; Mazzenga, G. C.; Meckler, H. Tetrahedron Lett 1987, 28, 5133.
- [9] Zhao, Z.; Leister, W. H.; Strauss, K. A.; Wisnoski, D. D.; Lindsley, C. W. Tetrahedron Lett 2003, 44, 1123.
- [10] Paulsen, H.; Stoye, D. In The Chemistry of Amides; Zabicky, J., Ed.; Interscience: London, 1970, p 515.
- [11] Nolan, G.; Samuel, E. L.; Ennis, B. C.; Hinde, R. W. J Chem Soc C, 1967, 30.
  - [12] Curtius, T.; Thyssen, J. J Prakt Chem 1902, 7, 65.
  - [13] Iqbal, R.; Malik, F. J Chem Soc Pak 1984, 6, 43.
- [14] Cruces, M. A.; Elorriage, C.; Fernandes-Alvarez, E. Eur J Med Chem 1991, 26, 33.
- [15] Fernandez-Alvarez, E.; Lone, M.; Monge, A. Bull Soc Chim Fr 1969, 1932.
  - [16] Marco, J. L. J Heterocycl Chem 1998, 35, 475.
- [17] Pêrez, S.; Lasheras, B.; Oset, C.; Monge, A. J. Heterocycl Chem 1997, 34, 1527.
- [18] Cruces, M. A.; Elorriage, C.; Fernandes-Alvarez, E. Biochem Pharmacol 1990, 40, 535.
  - [19] Cook, M. J.; Bes, E. J. Tetrahedron 1968, 24, 4501.
- [20] Shimazu, M.; Naito, T.; Ohta, G.; YoshihawaT.; Dohmori, R. J Pharm Soc Jpn 1952, 72, 1474.
- [21] Fischer, E.; Van Slyke, D. D. Ber Dtsch Chem Ges 1911, 44, 3166.
  - [22] Kesting, W. Chem Ber 1924, 57, 1321.
- [23] Borsche, W.; Müller, W.; Bodenstein, C. A. Ann Chem 1929, 475, 120.
  - [24] Lieser, T.; Nischk, G. Chem Ber 1949, 82, 527.
  - [25] Fichter, F.; Becker, B. Chem Ber 1911, 44, 3481.
- [26] (a) Argyle, C. S. (to Whiffen and Sons Ltd.). U.S. Pat.3,258,485 (1966); (b) Argyle, C. S. Chem Abstr 1966, 65, 7067.
- [27] Knaus, E. E.; Redda, K. K. J Heterocycl Chem 1976, 13, 1237.
- [28] Redda, K. K.; Melles, H.; Rao, K. N. J Heterocycl Chem 1990, 27, 1041.
- [29] Rao, K. N.; Redda, K. K.; Onayemi, F. Y.; Melles, H.; Choi, J. J Heterocycl Chem 1995, 32, 307.
- [30] Zhao, X.; Wang, X.; Jiang, X.; Chen, Y.; Li, Z.; Chen, G. J Am Chem Soc 2003, 125, 15128.
- [31] Bukowski, L.; Janowic, M.; Zwolska-Kwick, Z.; Andrzejczyk, Z. Pharmazie 1999, 9, 54.
  - [32] Fox, H. H.; Gibas, J. T. J Org Chem 1952, 17, 1653.
- [33] Pamies, O.; Ruiz, A.; Net, G.; Claver, C.; Kalchhauser, H.; Widhalm, M. Monatsh Chem 2000, 131, 1173.
- [34] Lehmann, J.; Ghoneim, K. M.; Elgendy, A. A. Arch. Pharm (Weinheim), 1984, 317, 188.
- [35] Salgado, M.; Garcia Detorres, A.; Cano Pavon, J. M. Talanta 1985, 32, 887.

- [36] Syamal, A.; Maurya, M. R. Ind J Chem 1985, 24A, 836.
- [37] El-Baradie, K. Y.; Gaber, M.; El-Mehasseb, I. M. Egypt J Chem 1994, 37, 441.
- [38] Hassan, A. A.; Ibrahim, Y. R.; Shawky, A. M. Z. Naturforsch.,2008, 63b, 998.
  - [39] Zhao, H.; Burke, T. R. Jr. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 421.
- [40] Pedler, A.; Pollard, F. H. Inorganic Synthesis; Mc Graw-Hill: New York, 1957; Vol. 87
- [41] Kim, Y. H.; Kim, K.; Shim, S. B. Tetrahedron Lett 1986, 27, 4749.
- [42] Moustafa, M. A.; Nasr, M. N.; Gineinah, M. M.; Bayoumi, W. A. Arch Pharm Med Chem 2004, 337, 164.
- [43] Abernethy, J. L.; Boebeck, R.; Ledesma, A.; Kemp, R. J Org Chem 1973, 38, 1286.
- [44] Abernethy, J. L.; Srulevtch, D.; Ordway, M. J. Jr. J Org Chem 1975, 40, 3445.
- [45] Burger, K.; Lange, T.; Rudolph, M. Heterocycles 2003, 59, 1.
- [46] Baraldi, P. G.; Tabrizi, M. A.; Preti, D.; Bovero, A.; Fruttarolo, F.; Romagnoli, R.; Abdel Zaid, N.; Moorman, A. R.; Varani,
- K.; Borea, P. A. J Med Chem 2005, 48, 5001. [47] Hoggarth, E. J Chem Soc 1949,1163.
  - $[49] \quad \text{Codefred} \in \mathbb{E} \setminus W_{\text{child}} \in \mathbb{E} \setminus \mathbb{E} \setminus [0, 1]$
  - [48] Godefroi, E. F.; Wittle, E. L. J Org Chem 1956, 21, 1163.
    [49] Buu Hoi, N. P.; Xuong, N. D.; Gazave, J. M.; Schembri,
- L.; Nam, N. H.; Long, C. T. Bull Soc Chim Fr 1956, 363.
- [50] Shah, M. H.; Mhasalkar, M. Y.; Patki, V. M.; Deliwala, C.
   V.; Sheth, U. K. J Pharm Sci 1969, 58, 1398.
- [51] Cansiz, A.; Koparir, M.; Demirdag, A. Molecules 2004, 9, 204.
- [52] Mekuskiene, G.; Tumkevicius, S.; Vainilavicius, P. J Chem Res (S) 2002, 231.
- [53] Kaupp, G.; Schmeyers, J.; Boy, J. J Prakt Chem 2000, 243, 259.
- [54] Dias, M.; Mornet, R.; Laloue, M. Bioorg Med Chem 1995, 3, 361.
- [55] Abid, S.; El-Gharbi, R.; Gandini, A. Polymer 2004, 45, 6469.
  - [56] Gupta, D. R.; Arora, R. K. Rev Roum Chim 1985, 30, 137.
  - [57] Singh, C. P. J Ind Chem Soc 1985, XII, 222.
- [58] Baddar, F. G.; Al-Hajjar, F. H.; El-Rayyes, N. R. J Heterocycl Chem 1976, 13, 257.
- [59] Al-Farkh, Y. A.; Al-Hajjar, F. H.; Hamoud, H. S. Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo) 1978, 26, 1298.
- [60] Al-Farkh, Y. A.; Al-Hajjar, F. H.; Hamoud, H. S. J Chem Eng Data 1978, 23, 347.
- [61] Al-Hajjar, F. H.; Sabri, S. S. J Heterocycl Chem 1986, 23, 727.
- [62] Bonacorso, H. G.; Oliveira, M. R.; Costa, M. B.; da Silva, L. B.; Wastowski, A. D.; Zanatta, N.; Martins, M. A. P. J Heterocycl
- Chem 2005, 42, 631.
- [63] Hassan, A. A.; Ibrahim, Y. R.; Shawky, A. M. J Chem Res (S), 2008, 468.
- [64] Barton, D. H. R.; Lukacs, G.; Wagle, D. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1982, 450.
- [65] Hassan, A. A.; Ibrahim, Y. R.; Shawky, A. M. J Heterocycl Chem 2009, 46, 616.
- [66] Hassan, A. A.; Ibrahim, Y. R.; Shawky, A. M. J Heterocycl Chem, to appear.
- [67] Ali, R.; Mishra, B.;Nizamuddin Ind J Chem 1989, 28B, 526.
- [68] Chen, Y. T.; Chang, T. I. Sci Sin 1963, 12, 143; Chem. Abstr. 1963, 58, 13937f.
- [69] Bhat, A. K.; Bhamaria, R. P.; Bellare, R. A.; Deliwala, C. V. Ind J Chem 1967, 5B, 397.

[70] Iqbal, R.; Rama, N. H.; Ahmed, N.; Zamani, K.; Ebrahim, S.; Iqbal, N. Ind J Chem 1998, 37B, 506.

- [71] Decroix, P. B.; Dubus, P.; Morel, J.; Pastour, P. Bull Soc Chim Fr 1976, 3–4, 621.
- [72] Ashton, W. T.; Chang, L. L.; Hutchins, S. M.; Strelitz, R. A.; MacCoss, M.; Chang, R. S. L.; Lotti, V. J.; Faust, K. A.; Chen, T.-B.; Bunting, P.; Schorn, T. W.; Kivlighn, S. D.; Siegl, P. K. S. J Med Chem 1993, 36, 591.
- [73] Srivastava, R. P.; Kumar, V. V.; Bhatia, S.; Sharma, S. Ind J Chem 1995, 34B, 209.
  - [74] Lipinski, C. A. J Med Chem 1983, 26, 1.
  - [75] Browne, E. J.; Polya, J. B. J Chem Soc C 1968, 824.
  - [76] Browne, E. J. Aust J Chem 1971, 24, 393.
  - [77] Browne, E. J. Aust J Chem 1971, 24, 2389.
  - [78] Browne, E. J.; Polya, J. B. J Chem Soc C, 1969, 1056.
  - [79] Browne, E. J. Aust J Chem 1975, 28, 2543.
- [80] Poonian, M. S.; Nowoswait, E. F. J Org Chem 1980, 45, 203.
- [81] Francis, J. E.; Gorezyca, L. A.; Mazzenga, G. C.; Meckler, H. Tetrahedron Lett 1987, 28, 5133.
- [82] Postovskii, I. Y.; Vereshchqngia, N. N.; Obsch, Z. Khim 1959, 229, 2139; Chem. Abstr. 1960, 54, 9898c.
  - [83] Potts, K. T. Chem Rev 1961, 61, 78.
    - [84] Kilngele, M. H.; Brooker, S. Eur J Org Chem 2004, 3422.
    - [85] Santus, M. Liebigs Ann Chem 1988, 179.
- [86] Mamolo, M. G.; Vio, L.; Banfi, E.; Cinco, M. Eur J Chem 1986, 21, 467.
  - [87] Potts, K. T. J Chem Soc 1954, 3461.
- [88] Vio, L.; Mamolo, M. G.; Pellizer, G. Arch Pharm (Weinheim) 1988, 321, 713.
- [89] Takalo, H.; Mukkala, V.-M.; Meriö, L. Helv Chim Acta 1997, 80, 372.
  - [90] Lipinski, C. A. J Med Chem 1983, 26, 1.
- [91] Moro, S.; Braiuca, P.; Deflorian, F.; Ferrari, C.; Pastorin, G.; Cacciari, B.; Baraldi, P. G.; Varani, K.; Borea, P. A.; Spalluto, G. J Med Chem 2005, 48, 152.
- [92] Atta, K. F.; El-Massry, A.; Abdel Hamid, H.; El Ashry, E. H.; Amer, A. J Heterocycl Chem 1994, 31, 549.
- [93] Biagi, G.; Giorgi, I.; Livi, O.; Pacchini, F.; Scartoni, V. J Heterocycl Chem 2002, 39, 885.
- [94] Francis, J. E.; Cash, W. D.; Baraz, B. S.; Bernard, P. S.; Lovell, R. A.; Mazzenga, G. C.; Friedmann, R. C.; Hyun, J. L.; Braunwalder, A. F.; Loo, P. S.; Bennett, D. A. J Med Chem 1991, 34, 281.

- [95] Blank, J.; Kandt, M.; Pfeiffer, W.; Hetzheim, A.; Langer, P. Eur J Org Chem 2003, 182.
- [96] Okamura, T.; Kurogi, Y.; Nishikawa, H.; Hashimato, K.; Fujiwara, H.; Nagao, Y. J Med Chem 2002, 45, 3703.
- [97] Todde, S.; Moresco, R. M.; Simonelli, P.; Baraldi, P. G.; Cacciari, B.; Spalluto, G.; Varani, K.; Monopoli, A.; Matarrese, M.;
- Carpinelli, A.; Magni, F.; Kienl, M. G.; Fazio, F. J Med Chem 2000, 43, 4359.
- [98] Baraldi, P. G.; Cacciari, B.; Romagnoli, R.; Spalluto, G.; Klotz, N.; Leung, E.; Varani, K.; Gessi, S.; Merighi, S.; Borea, P. A. J Med Chem 1999, 42, 4473.
- [99] Baraldi, P. G.; Cacciari, B.; Spalluto, G.; Bergonzoni, M.; Dionisotti, S.; Ongini, E.; Varani, K.; Borea, P. A. J Med Chem 1998, 41 2126
- [100] Al-Omran, F.; Elassar, A.-A.; El-Khair, A. A. J Heterocycl Chem 2003, 40, 249.
- [101] Hetzhem, A.; Müller, G.; Vainilavicius, P.; Girdžiunaite, D. Pharmazie 1985, 40, 17.
- [102] Musser, J. H.; Brown, R. E.; Love, B.; Bailey, K.; Jones, H.; Kohen, R.; Huang, F.; Khandwala, A.; Leibowitz, M.; Sonnino-
- Goldman, P.; Donigi-Ruzza, D. J Med Chem 1984, 27, 121.
  - [103] Yokoyama, M.; Sato, K. Synthesis 1988, 813.
- [104] Hiremath, S. P.; Hiremath, D. M.; Purohit, M. G. Ind J Chem 1983, 22B, 571.
- [105] Maddirala, S. J.; Gokak, V. S.; Basanagoudar, L. D. J Heterocycl Chem 2004, 41, 7.
  - [106] Demetrescu, C. Rev Roum Chim 1972, 17, 1013.
- [107] Gatta, F.; Dell Giudice, M. R.; Borioni, A. J Heterocycl Chem 1993, 30, 11.
- [108] Taylor, E. C.; French, L. G. J Org Chem 1989, 54, 1245.
- [109] Rostamizadeh, S.; Sadeghi, K. Synth Commun 2002, 32, 1899.
- [110] Mazaahir, K.; Pooja, S.; Bhushan, K.; Pretti, M. Synth Commun 2001, 31, 1639.
- [111] Saraswthi, T. V.; Srinivasan, V. R. Tetrahedron Lett 1971, 25, 2315.
- [112] Saraswthi, T. V.; Srinivasan, V. R. Tetrahedron Lett 1977, 33, 1043.
- [113] Vega, A. M.; Aldana, I.; Rabbani, M. M.; Fernandez-Alvarez, E. J Heterocycl Chem 1980, 17, 77.
  - [114] Lews, A.; Shepherd, R. G. J Heterocycl Chem 1971, 8, 47.
- [115] Reich, M. F.; Fabio, P. F.; Lee, V. J.; Fuck, N. A.; Testa, R. T. J Med Chem 1989, 32, 2474.